#### **Bethel University**

# Spark

All Electronic Theses and Dissertations

2022

# The Effects of Poverty on Students' Mental Well-Being

Esther P. Nyagwencha-Nyamweya Bethel University

Follow this and additional works at: https://spark.bethel.edu/etd

Part of the Educational Sociology Commons, and the Special Education and Teaching Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Nyagwencha-Nyamweya, E. P. (2022). *The Effects of Poverty on Students' Mental Well-Being* [Master's thesis, Bethel University]. Spark Repository. https://spark.bethel.edu/etd/865

This Master's thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Spark. It has been accepted for inclusion in All Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Spark.

THE EFFECTS OF POVERTY ON STUDENTS' MENTAL WELL-BEING

A MASTER'S THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF BETHEL UNIVERSITY

BY

ESTHER P. NYAGWENCHA-NYAMWEYA

IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS

FOR THE DEGREE OF

MASTER OF ARTS IN SPECIAL EDUCATION

AUGUST 2022

BETHEL UNIVERSITY

# THE EFFECTS OF POVERTY ON STUDENTS' MENTAL WELL-BEING

# ESTHER P. NYAGWENCHA-NYAMWEYA

AUGUST1 2022

APPROVED

Thesis Advisor: Meghan Cavalier, Ed.D.

Program Director: Katie Bonawitz, Ed.D.

#### Acknowledgements

First, I want to thank God for giving me this opportunity to further my education at Bethel University at a time when everything looked impossible for me. I faced a lot of challenges from cultural shock in terms of education, difficult pregnancy in the middle of my studies that coincided with the start of Covid19, very young children who needed a lot of attention, and I lost my grandma; who has always been my cheerleader throughout my life. I was filled with a lot of fear and uncertainty but God held my hand and I rejoice today for the victory.

Second, I thank my parents Ben and Beldinah for their love, support, and prayers throughout the years. I owe it all to them for their sacrifice to have me get the best education which was a stepping stone to my current position as a Special Education teacher. I also thank my siblings: Peter, Andrew, John, and Mercy for their love and encouragement through phone calls from thousands of miles away in Kenya, Africa.

Lastly, I thank my husband Paul for his support and prayers through this journey. I also thank my children Ethan, Haniel, and Priscilla who, though so young, got to understand that mommy had to study and allowed me a few minutes to study. They also ensured that I had something to eat while I did my assignments. My children are the happiest people to see me done with my studies. I also thank my cousin Naomi and niece Janet for babysitting for me when I had to go to school, do my assignments, or get a few minutes for self-care when I felt too exhausted. From the bottom of my heart, thank you to everyone who supported me in any way. I would not be here today without your support.

#### Abstract

Poverty is a global problem that has impacted the mental well-being of students. Research shows that in the US, one out of five children under the age of 18 live in poverty. This literature review sought to determine the effects of poverty on students' mental well-being. Researchers have done in depth studies on poverty and their findings illustrated a close connection between poverty and an increase in mental health risks. Children born in poverty experience the effects of poverty early in life which affects their physical, behavioral, and developmental health. The gap between children from low economic status and those from families with high economic status keeps widening socially and academically. Research illustrated how stressful living conditions can lead to depression, severe anxiety, and suicide in children.

# Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	
Abstract	4
Table of Contents	5
Chapter I: Introduction	6
Defining Poverty	6
Poverty Statistics in the US	6
Definition of Terms	10
Research Questions	11
Chapter II: Literature Review	12
How do students experience poverty?	12
Effects of poverty on students' mental well-being	17
Strategies for engaging students affected by poverty	29
Chapter III: Discussion and Conclusion	
Summary of Literature Review	45
Limitations of the Research	46
Implications for Future Research	47
Professional Application	48
Conclusion	49
References	

#### **CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION**

#### **Defining Poverty**

Poverty is a global issue that has been in existence for many decades. According to Berger et al. (2018), poverty has different definitions depending on the context. Poverty can be defined as lack of material wealth and poor standards of living. It can also be defined as lack of economic resources or social exclusion. Poverty can lead to homelessness, an increase in health issues, and low academic achievement. There is a widely known misconception that people are poor because of being lazy and lacking motivation. Families find themselves in poverty and without support and they keep living in poverty from generation to generation. Children who are born in neighborhoods where poverty level is high can experience poverty from childhood to adulthood, and the cycle continues. Poor neighborhoods are likely to expose children to violence, insecurity, abuse, and drug abuse (Berger et al., 2018).

#### **Poverty Statistics in the US**

According to the National Center for Children in Poverty:

In 2016, 41% of children in the United States under the age of 18 lived in low-income households. The highest number of those children were age five or under. Educators may not have the solution to the poverty crisis, but they do have an obligation to understand the implications of poverty on students' learning. (Boatwright & Midcalf, 2019, p.52)

According to the US Census Bureau, the poverty rate increased in 2020 for the first time in five years (Peterson, 2021). In the United States between 1990-2020, more than 11% of the

nations' population lived in poverty and close to 50% of the population lived in deep poverty. The poverty rate by race between 1990-2020 showed that Black people had the highest rate followed closely by Hispanic then Asians and white. Between 1970-2020 the poverty levels were higher in children under 18 years compared to adults who were 65 and older. Income from 1988-2020 varied across race and ethnic groups. The yearly income breakdown from the United States Census Bureau showed findings that during 1988 through 2020, individuals from an Asian background earned \$70,000 while white, not Hispanic counterparts earned \$63,000. In addition, the blacks earned \$35,000 (Peterson, 2021).

A household that lacks education or has limited education is likely to live in poverty (Gale, 2016). People with low education or illiteracy are likely to be unemployed compared to those with better education. According to the United Nations Educational Scientific, and Cultural Organization (UNESCO) there is a need for people to get educated by ensuring that there is access to quality education (Gale, 2016).

This literature will explore the effects of poverty in children, especially students. According to Gale (2016), a household that is unable to satisfy dietary requirements is likely to face malnutrition because of being undernourished. There is a need for proper nutrition for the first two years of children's life. Lack of proper nutrition in children below two leads to irreversible developmental damage, which has cognitive and physical effects. Poverty effects can impact the brain development of children and hence affect their interaction in school and academic performance. Children need proper nutrition for the brain to function properly (Gale, 2016). Parents from poor families often struggle to put food on the table and work long hours to be able to provide basic needs for their families. Children from these poor families are likely to come to school hungry, stressed, and unmotivated because of lack of resources at home and parental absence (McKenzie, 2019). Research showed that homes facing food insecurities are more likely to eat unhealthy foods and exercise. These households are prone to face violence compared to households that have food security (Francis et al., 2018).

Along with food insecurities, stress may affect the mental well-being of students. Stress is known to have toxic effects on the brain's function mentally and physically and this affects both children and adults. Chronic stress, which is associated with unhealthy conditions, causes toxic stress in children and toxic stress affects children's brain development and function. An example of stress in children is the increase in poor physical, behavioral, socio-emotional, and cognitive functioning (Francis, 2018). Most children who are exposed to high levels of stress from early stages of life have noticeable changes in their brain development, especially the parts of the brain responsible for emotional regulation and cognitive development (Gale, 2016).

Parents and caregivers have a role to play in nurturing children by creating a safe, stable, and supportive home environment for the children (Francis, 2018). Consequently, children who lack good nurturing may experience stress and depression, which have lasting effects on their mental well-being. Parents who struggle with limited resources may have been raised in poverty themselves and could be suffering from unresolved stress, depression, and trauma. These parents may lack the ability to provide a healthy environment for their children (Francis, 2018).

Parental stress affects how they nurture and relate to their children. Parents and caregivers have a role to play in children's mental well-being (Blair & Raver, 2018).

In a body of emerging research with human caregivers, studies have shown that when families are faced with stressful psychosocial and physical conditions within the home, parents are at greater risk for becoming less sensitive and warm in their patterns of early caregiving. In turn, lower levels of maternal sensitivity increases the likelihood that children will demonstrate elevated cortisol levels and lower executive function ability, with commensurate difficulty regulating emotion and behavior. Notably, however, just as early caregiving functions in a mediating role as a conduit for stressors in the environment, it also functions as a moderator, or a buffer of stress (Raver, 2016, p.5).

According to Schaefer (2016), Children growing up in poor families are less likely to have timely immunizations, which has adverse effects on their health. These children may face delayed access to immunizations unlike their peers from middle-income families. These have a negative impact on the students' health, income, and family status in adulthood. Another challenge faced by children living in poverty is the possibility of developing respiratory illnesses like asthma due to exposure to harmful environments. Most of the poor children's home environment has hazardous wastes and secondhand smoke exposure which would possibly harm their lungs. Exposure to these harmful substances have long term effects on children. Parents of these children may lack access to health care services and find treating these illnesses costly. One of the effects of exposure to harmful substances is low Intelligence Quotient and evident low academic achievement. For instance, the children may have less engagement in school activities and high crime rates in adolescent years. (Francis et al., 2018).

According to Caswell (2018) poverty is not just the lack of resources, it has psychological and physiological effects too which include anxiety, depression, low birth weight, and obesity. Eventually, these factors make poverty an economic health issue. School going children from low income families may face physiological stress, low academic achievement and delayed fulfillment compared to their middle-income peers. In both children and adults, there are high risks for mental and physical health disorders. The children can also face environmental stress caused by gang activity and or pollution. Some people who do not live in poverty are ignorant of these issues because of economic and social isolation of classes. Empathy and support for social programs can be used to fight poverty (Caswell, 2018).

## **Definition of Terms**

## **Cortisol**

A naturally-occurring steroid hormone that plays a key role in the body's stress response (Scott, 2021).

## **Chronic Illness**

Conditions that last one year or more and require ongoing medical attention or limit activities of daily living or both (Centers of Disease Control, 2022).

### Disorders

An abnormal physical or mental condition (Merriam-Webster Dictionary).

#### **Economic footing**

Financial balance in debts and income

## Maternal depression

Conditions that affect women from pregnancy upto a year after delivery (Centers of

Disease Control, 2022).

## Mental Health

Emotional, psychological, and social well-being (Centers of Disease Control, 2022).

#### **Poverty**

Lack of enough resources to provide the necessities of life (Merriam-Webster Dictionary).

# **Psychiatric conditions**

Problems that people experience that affect their minds and moods (Centers of Disease Control, 2022).

## Socioeconomic Factors

A combination of social and economic factors(Merriam-Webster Dictionary).

# Stagnation

Lack of activity, growth, or development (Merriam-Webster Dictionary).

### **Research Questions**

The literature review seeks to answer the following questions.

- 1. In what ways do students experience poverty?
- 2. How does poverty affect students' mental well-being?
- 3. What strategies can be used by teachers to engage students affected by poverty?

#### **CHAPTER II: LITERATURE REVIEW**

#### **How Do Students Experience Poverty?**

Poverty is not just the lack of money in families. Poverty is the lack of resources, which include financial, emotional, mental, spiritual, physical, support systems, role models, and knowledge (Boatwright & Midcalf, 2019). Families need financial resources to be able to buy goods and pay for the services that they need. Poverty can affect how one controls their emotions, especially on how they respond to challenging situations. Lack of mental resources makes it hard for one to deal with every day to day life. Most students living in poverty lack most or all of these resources, which are essential for school readiness (Boatwright & Midcalf, 2019).

According to Brown (2017), the U. S. 2016 census showed that the number of people living in poverty in the U. S. was 47 million. In fact, one out of five children under the age 18 lived in poverty in 2016. Most of these children living in poverty eventually become homeless, which has social-emotional implications. This study raised questions because the U. S. is ranked as one of the wealthiest countries in the world (Brown, 2017). Many youths living in poverty and homelessness are school age children who lack a regular residence and face educational, emotional, and health challenges. "Additionally, their stressful living conditions can lead to depression, severe anxiety, and suicide" (Brown, 2017, pp. 82-83). The U. S. Census Bureau findings also showed that K-12 students living in poverty are likely to be disengaged at school and they feel disconnected from their peers; they feel secluded and entertain feelings of incapacity and loneliness (Brown, 2017). According to Caswell (2018), poverty elevated risks of socioeconomic difficulties and poor academic performance in children. Most of these children have higher physiological stress levels and low scores in physiological stress measures compared to peers from middle-income families. There are higher risks of mental and physical health disorders in people living in poverty than those from middle-income (Caswell, 2018).

Poverty is a pressing issue that affects children especially those of school age. These children living in poverty are likely to face a lot of challenges that affect their schooling. "They attend school less frequently, face less school success, experience higher push out or dropout rates, and suffer poor health and nutrition" (Shields, 2014, p.127). Consequently, the poverty gap between children from high-income families and low-income families continues to widen, both socially and academically (Lancker & Parolin, 2020). Because of the long lasting effects of poverty, there is a need for an adequate response, which should include supporting children from low-income households to access educational materials and regular income support to close the widening learning gap (Lancker & Parolin, 2020).

According to Oakes (2021), there are schools that have higher poverty levels of the student population compared to others. These high poverty schools need immediate attention because the students who attend these schools lack access to resources, equal education opportunities, and the schools mainly contain a high percentage of students of color. The children from communities that have high levels of poverty are likely to be exposed to conditions that affect their learning. These adverse conditions include but are not limited to, lack of proper care for small children, poor housing and cases of homelessness, food insecurity, insecure neighborhoods, and lack of proper social health services among a range of challenges that can cause trauma (Oakes, 2021). Caswell (2018) stated that a neighborhood in poverty has high chances of high rates of gang activities and pollution, which causes neighborhood environmental stress. However, a large number of people who do not live in poverty are blind to poverty issues because of social segregation caused by economic and class differences.

Poverty has created disparities in regard to race, age, ethnicity, family structure, and geographical locations (Hodgkinson, 2016). Racial minority groups have high chances of experiencing poverty. This is because most of them live in communities where there is a high concentration of poverty (Lee & Zhang, 2021). According to Carney (2017), students of color are affected more by poverty and mental illness than other races. Urban schools have high concentrations of these students of color and this makes them more vulnerable to anxiety, depression, and behavioral issues. When school problems are not addressed, students are more likely to make poor choices which can lead to serious mental health probems like anxiety, depression, substance abuse and even thoughts of suicide (Carney et al., 2017).

According to Mowat (2020), children from poor families are more likely to be bullied compared to their peers from more affluent homes. Bullying impacts students' mental well being leading to an increase in suicidal thoughts. Children who have faced bullying may find it hard to keep jobs as adults and some may end up being unemployed. As a result, they are likely to have a lower income, limited resources, and have low social status in the community they live in (Johnson, 2019). Schools should ensure that students feel secure,safe and valued when in school and have preventive and awareness programs that address bullying issues (Mowat, 2020).

According to Johnson (2019), poverty is a light that is not beneficial to the economy, education, families, and the society at large. Family poverty can be closely connected with cofactors such as low school grade level attainment, teen parenting, family structure, distressed neighborhoods, and poor nutrition (Yoshikawa, 2012). Despite the fact that some communities have families living in poverty, there are communities that have high levels of poverty compared to others (Schaefer, 2016). There is a big difference between being poor in a community which has resources like good infrastructure and good schools and being poor in a community with high poverty rates which has been going on for generations. Child poverty is more persistent in rural than urban counties; there is negligible investment in infrastructure and schools (Schaefer, 2016).

Children are born to families with unequal economic footing which may have an impact on their future life. Children who experience poverty early in life are likely to have behavioral problems, lower IQ scores, and low academic achievement (Schaefer, 2012). "Family characteristics at birth relate to childhood poverty persistence" (Schaefer, 2012, p. 4). Similarly, Gupta (2007) said that family income plays a big role in a child's health and development. The early stages of life play a big role in a child's development and the effects are seen in adulthood. Most of the effects are irreversible because of the impact on the development of the brain (Gupta, 2007).

The complexity of the effects of poverty on children and families is alarming. Living in poverty has been connected with poor health and the increased risk for social and mental health problems in all stages of life (Hodgkinson, 2016). This risk necessitates the need for mental health services for families living in poverty but most of these families have limited or no access to these services. Consequently, family income corresponds to children's physical, behavioral, and developmental health. Poverty has also been linked to children's social emotional functioning and psychological responses to stress. These responses can lead to long-term mental health effects. When parents get stressed because they struggle with food insecurity and housing, they are less likely to engage in positive parenting practices increasing the chances of child abuse or neglect (Hodgkinson, 2016).

Children born to poor parents may experience poverty most of their childhood (Ratcliffe, 2012). It is unlikely that their experience with poverty will improve over time. Compared to

children who have never been poor, these children are more likely to drop out of school and have teen premature births (Ratcliffe, 2012). Taylor (2017) shared the same views that children from low income households are likely to experience physical and cognitive development inadequacies. Seemingly, most children living in poverty have limited access to healthcare and are more likely to drop out of high school and less likely to graduate from high school compared to those from high income (Taylor, 2017).

According to Johnson (2019), a lot of children living in poverty come from a home environment that is demanding. Their parents are either absent most of the time and when they are present they may have a lot of negativity-some may have many partners, use drugs, and may engage in both physical and verbal abuse. Johnson (2019) stated that most children from poor households live in environments with poor sanitation, lack resources, and some of their parents have low academic expectations for their children (Johnson, 2019). Similarly, Carney et al. (2017) stated that environmental factors like poverty, violence, substance abuse, lack of parent support , poor nutrition, and inequalities in the education system can lead to poor academic achievement in students. The available support in schools does not match the individual needs of students, a reason for an increase in mental health issues (Carney et al., 2017).

Berger et al. (2018) blamed the low-wage labor market for poverty levels in the United States. There is stagnation in wage growth, unemployment, and unstable work. There are high rates of young students who are dropping out of school to get into parenthood. These young parents who are less educated face low wages for a long period of time, they also face instability in employment and unstable working hours. Another challenge they face is minimal employer provided benefits and have limited opportunities for advancement (Berger et al., 2018).

#### Effects Of Poverty On Students' Mental Well-Being

According to Smith-Carrier et al. (2019), There are three ways in which people perceive poverty. First, people who are poor are to blame for being poor because they have made wrong choices and have failed. Poor people are not motivated, they lack work ethics and moral stature. They need incentives for them to work and get out of dependency, addiction, and wrong behaviors. The second explanation is that people are poor because of systemic inequalities. The system favors a few and limits opportunities for other people. There are two main factors that can lead a person into poverty: economic condition and institutional support (Smith-Carrier et al., 2019). The third explanation of poverty is that, some people believe that poverty is a result of bad luck, fate, and divine will. However, with time, research has shown a shift on how people perceive poverty. Some organizations and researchers have strived to promote poverty awareness activities among students as a means of correcting the misunderstanding of poverty (Smith-Carrier, 2019).

According to Justice et al. (2019) poverty can impact on the way children and caregivers interact and this might end up influencing the children's language skills. A family stress model explains how economic hardship leads to a dysfunctional family, which can impede the interaction between caregivers and children. This model explained how parent-child interaction is negatively impacted and as a result parents are unable to provide positive emotional support to their children. When interactions between children and caregivers deteriorate, the caregivers may end up experiencing stress and depression. This in turn is likely to negatively affect the children's language skills (Justice et al., 2019). According to Rice (2017), the effects of poverty in children include poor education, low income, and maternal depression, and negativity. Rice reported that

these children rarely experience empathy from their parents and caregivers and as a result, they are less likely to show empathy to their peers.

Studies show that poverty has an effect on mental health. The main mechanism through which poverty affects mental health is physical and biological (Simon, 2018). The most toxic environment for mental well being is one in which poverty is geographically concentrated, often in urban areas. People living in poverty may display social disorders if their mental health has been affected by poverty (Simon, 2018). Murali and Oyebode (2004) echoed Simon's findings by stating that most psychiatric conditions occur at high rates in areas that are affected by poverty but lack of money does not necessarily lead to mental health. Poverty can be a determinant and/or a result of poor mental health and can bring about emotional disturbance, anxiety, obsessive compulsive, and depressive disorders (Murali & Oyebode, 2004).

Socio-economic factors influence the health status of families and a community at large (Elliot, 2016). An individual's mental health depends on social, cultural, political and environmental factors. The environmental factors are the family's living and working conditions, security, and the social support from the community. Anyone can experience mental health problems over their lifetime. While this is true, mental health problems vary across social groups (Elliot, 2016).

According to Elliot (2016), poverty is not the only cause of mental health problems, anyone can have mental health problems regardless of their economic status.

Poverty and mental health problems are not marginal experiences of a separate group in society: anyone can experience either over their lifetime, and there is a clear intersection between mental health and poverty. Whether or not someone develops mental health problems or moves into poverty, how long this lasts for

18

and its severity, and if and how someone recovers their mental health or secures a route out of poverty depends on their access to sufficient quality and quantity of resources, and the timeliness of this access. Poverty's dynamic character also means that the risk of experiencing mental health exists for more people that are in poverty. This underlines the importance of preventing poverty as well as progressing routes out of it. (p.15)

Children living in poverty are more likely to have mental health issues compared to their peers from families with high socioeconomic status (Jakovljevic et al., 2016). The mental health issues in children living in poverty may continue through each developmental stage up to adulthood. There is a concern by experts on whether childhood behavioral concerns are children's response to their environment or mental health (Jakovljevic et al., 2016). The environment shapes an individual's mental health. Most people are born, they grow, work and age in the same environment and so their mental health is shaped by the social, environmental and economic conditions of the environment they are in. Mental health problems may emerge early in children because of poverty and deprivation of basic needs (Knifton & Inglis, 2020). According to Rice (2017), poverty in children may cause chronic illnesses because of lack of access to proper medical and dental care, healthy food, and recreational activities (Rice, 2017). These children may display social behavioral and emotional difficulties early in life and this might be more pronounced throughout their childhood (Knifton & Inglis, 2020). Children living in poverty also tend to experience more stigma and distrimination compared to those from a better economic status. As a result, the children may find it harder to recover from mental health issues and the impact is likely to be felt by the entire family (Knifton & Inglis, 2020).

The geographical location of some students can influence their experiences in education (Milner et al., 2017). These students may face challenges like homelessness as well as limited access to transportation and housing, and access to basic resources. Their families are likely to face limited employment opportunities and the students are exposed to environmental conditions that can be harmful to their health. Brown (2017) talked in depth about students who experience homelessness. Homelessness can affect the students feelings and perception of education. They are likely to feel isolated from peers, misunderstood by peers and adults in the school, and they may not feel valued. According to Nguyen (2020), parents who have been unemployed for a long period of time have a high likelihood of living in isolation and getting depression. Parents' mental health problems can affect their children's academic achievement and their socio-economic outcomes. These children are also more likely to experience health, developmental, and learning problems (Nguyen, 2020).

According to Jakovljevic et al. (2016) children living in poverty have high chances of being exposed to violence and disorganized communities. Some of these children are exposed to an environment with events like divorce and domestic violence that can easily cause trauma in them. Another factor that can affect children living in poverty is being socially isolated, this is likely to impact their mental health. Assessing a student's family and social circumstances is important because there is a thin line between symptoms of poverty and symptoms of mental illness (Jakovljevic et al., 2016).

Poverty highly contributes to the children's inability to cope psychologically to their environment causing long term effects like chronic stress that negatively impacts the functioning of their immune system and brain functioning (Chaudhry & Wimer, 2016). Johnson (2019) mentioned that most children from middle class families live in environments that are safe and they are nurtured well compared to those from poor households (Johnson, 2019). The poor living conditions and hostile environment some poor children face may lead to an increase in anxiety and depression, which lead to behavioral problems and academic struggles. Most children living in poverty most often find it difficult to interact with peers and engage in school activities (Johnson, 2019). According to Lee and Zhang (2021), a big number of children living in poverty are exposed to chaotic living conditions. They are more likely to experience both physical and psychological stressors, which alter how their brain functions. They may struggle with self-regulation, find it hard to cope with external demands, have low self confidence/self-esteem, and have difficulties in interacting with peers and change of behavior. The longer the children experience poverty, the greater the impact on their developmental deficits. If no interventions are done during childhood, poverty can cause changes in the children's neural pathways (Lee & Zhang, 2021). Children's overall well-being depends on income and the population living in relative poverty. There are high cases of homicides, low academic achievement, and mental health problems with children living in poverty (Lee & Zhang, 2021).

According to Blackstock et al. (2018), mental health affects all people: men, women and children. There is a big gap between children living in urban settings and those living in rural areas. Children living in rural communities are more likely to be affected by poverty and face challenges associated with poverty like limited resources and mental health stigma. These challenges hinder their access to mental health concerns. Another challenge experienced in the rural area is the possibility of failing to identify mental health and mental health disorders early and when identified, there is lack of access to mental health professionals who can treat the conditions (Blackstock, 2018). In rural areas jobs are likely to be of lower wages and childhood poverty levels are relatively higher. Blackstock (2018) reported that adults in rural settings are

likely to be less educated and less likely to go to college. This affects the availability of services and so there is high dependency on professionals from outside communities limiting access (Blackstock, 2018). There is a belief that people living in rural settings, which is also called the natural world, have less chances of having anxiety and depression (Blackstock, 2018). Research shows that children from rural settings have the same or higher rates of mental health issues just like children from urban settings. The only difference is that children from urban settings have higher chances of accessing mental health services (Blackstock, 2018).

According to Depasquale and Dunnar (2020), poverty related stress can harm a child's development. The risk factors to children's development include housing instability, food insecurity and neighborhood violence. Parents who are sensitive and nurturing make their children do better developmentally (Depasquale & Dunnar, 2020). Acri et al. (2017) found that most children and families affected by poverty portrayed high levels of depressive symptoms and behavior problems; these mental health problems can be both serious and disabling. The main factor contributing to mental health problems is the low economic status that causes hardship as well as the fact that most of these families live below the poverty line (Acri et al., 2017). There is a high need for mental health services for communities with high populations with low-income. Both parents and children also need peer models due to the high rate of depression among mothers of children with mental health needs (Acri et al., 2017).

Parents and caregivers faced with stress are at a risk of becoming less sensitive to their children's needs. When the children's cortisol levels get elevated they may have difficulty regulating their emotions and behavior. The parents and/or caregivers act as buffers to stress (Blair & Raver, 2018). On average, parents experience a significant level of depressive symptoms, so parental mental health should be addressed by family service systems. There should be an agency that caters for both parents and children's mental health needs. There are agencies that cater for children's needs but none for parents (Acri et al., 2017).

Ekono et al. (2016) found out that obesity in children is connected to psychological problems that children experience in childhood. While children from poor families and those from affluent families experience obesity, children living in poor families have high chances of experiencing obesity according to a health and nutrition survey carried out in 2012. Most of the children from poor families also have higher exposure to lead levels and developmental delays compared to children from middle income families (Ekono, Jiand, & Smith, 2016).

Young children in deep poverty also appear to be at higher risk for future health and development problems, based on the presence of family adversities. Compared to young children in poverty, a higher percentage of young children in deep poverty have parents who are experiencing poor or fair health or mental health, frequent parenting stress, and a lack of perceived social support and security in the family's neighborhood. These family adversities have been shown to predict poor health and development outcomes in young children. (p.11)

Chaundry and Wimer (2016), during their study on the relationship between poverty and children's well-being, found that poverty may lead to parental stress which affects parental relationships. These parents undergoing stress may become incapable of engaging in warm

interactions and conversations with their children. Children who lack warm parental interactions may end up being less secure with attachment, receive less attention, and maintain a negative mood. These factors are important to children's growth, development, and socioeconomic security (Chaundry & Wimer, 2016).

According to Chueng and Wong (2020), a family's income greatly impacts the development of children. Parents with a high level of income may invest in their children by buying them educational learning materials, providing proper nutrition, paying for services like tutoring, having access to medical care, exposing their children to stimulating environments, and engaging in extracurricular activities. Most children from low-income households have limited or no access to these resources. These economic hardships experienced by low-income families can induce stress in parents, and they often end up having a poor psychological well-being. This can also reduce the parents' interaction and engagement with their children. A positive parent-child interaction is crucial for child development (Chueng & Wong, 2020).

According to Chaudry and Wimer (2016), poverty in children is not well understood. Measures used to determine poverty in children are not clear and sufficient to bring understanding of the depth of poverty of children in the United States. Child poverty rate however brings to light the clear picture of how poverty is widening and its impact on the economy (Chaundry & Wimer, 2016). Poverty can lead to scarcity of daily necessities available for use leading to material hardship. Material hardship comprises food insecurity and poor housing as well as limited access to medical care and utilities. Material hardship might not be linked directly to family income and poverty, but it has been associated with worse child outcomes. Parents going through material hardship might not be able to contribute to developmental inputs like education and child development (Chaudhry, 2016).

There is a likelihood of children living in poverty becoming vulnerable because of adverse childhood events that are risk factors for the development of mental illness (Jakovljevic et al., 2016). The children may lack proper nutrition, experience poor living conditions or even homelessness and have limited or no access to health care. According to Jakovljevic et al. (2016), children from households affected by poverty are less likely to be prepared for school. When they enter kindergarten, there is an increased likelihood of them being vulnerable in one of the following areas: physical health and well-being, social competence, emotional maturity, and communication (Jakovljevic et al., 2016). Students living in poverty may find school a place for eating a healthy regular diet. Food insecurities are known to contribute to low academic achievement and are a risk factor to physical health and mental well-being of students (Lancer & Parolin, 2020). These children may face a lot of challenges during school holidays because most mental health and children's well-being issues are experienced during the summer holidays more as they are longer. The children from low-income families are likely to live in conditions that make learning from home difficult: they may not have reliable internet access, have limited access to outdoor leisure facilities and lack access to books of their appropriate reading level (Lancker & Parolin, 2020).

According to Blackstock (2018), families in poverty may find it difficult accessing mental health counseling because of direct and indirect costs that are associated with counseling. The direct costs are the costs for the services and the indirect costs are transports, food and gas. These families may depend on third party financial assistance like insurance companies and government agencies. Most of these families are likely to lack private transportation as some do not own cars and so this might hinder their access to these services (Blackstock, 2018). Lack of public transportation, lack of mental health providers, and mental health community programs become a barrier to accessing services. These barriers are more in the rural settings as urban settings have easier access (Blackstock, 2018).

According to Jensen (2009), poverty can influence people's behavior, emotions, attitudes and how their brains process emotions. Students from poverty may find it difficult to regulate their emotions. This means that they are likely to easily give up when faced with challenges in the classroom. They may often find it challenging to work in groups (Jensen,2009). Some parents of children living in poverty use harsh words to their children. This is because they could be already stressed with their living conditions and hence they transfer their anger to the children. These children's self-esteem would probably be bruised and they may end up blaming themselves and try to hide their problems in order to please their parents/caregivers. On the other hand, the parents/caregivers could be dealing with mental issues (Jensen, 2009). There is a likelihood that these children are depressed or will end up getting depression. Another major effect of poverty on these students is that the schools they attend,that are within their environment, are substandard both infrastructure and resources, and academically because they may be understaffed. This is because these schools have a high population of students facing poverty (Jensen, 19).

According to Jensen (2019), stress impacts on a person's brain.

Constant stress without relief increases the baseline resting stress level of a person, changes the brain, lowers the immune system and in turn, increases health and emotional issues...... if stress is experienced severe enough and long enough, certain structures of the brain can be irreparably harmed. (p. 17)

According to Johnson (2019), people living in poverty are more likely to experience trauma. Research shows that generational poverty is the main cause of many traumatic events that make families dysfunctional. He also argues that poverty is chronic globally and calls people living in poverty "poverty-stricken people." These people are likely to be less educated compared to those who are not poor and because of this, they become targets in school with high chances of them being bullied or demoralized. Children who face chronic stressors end up living with trauma. The poor children are likely to be bullied and retaliate with violence. These children's self esteem is low and have high chances of depression, anxiety and have suicidal thoughts (Johnson, 2019). Bullying is one of the factors of school dropout rates among students. Children living in poverty may drop out of school and the result is an expansion of educational dividend prolonged chronic poverty. These children from low socioeconomic status may end up suffering from mental health disorders, engage in unwanted behaviors, experience psychosis and might end up having substance use disorders (Johnson, 2019). Smith-Carrier (2019) study findings showed that people living in poverty are likely to engage in substance abuse as a coping mechanism for the problems they face. People of higher income can illegally abuse substances too so this is not just for people in poverty.

Children living in poverty receive less cognitive stimulation at home than their peers from wealthier families (Rice et al., 2017).

The volume of gray matter in poor children is 8-10% lower than the gray matter of children growing up in middle to upper class families. Poverty also affects how these children think. They face chronic stressors like physical, emotional neglect and abuse leading to low academic achievement and poor nutrition-which may cause disruptive behaviors and illnesses. Poor nutrition, especially iron deficiency is also known to cause not only behavior issues but also illnesses. They come to school hungry, angry and sometimes sick. (pp.107-108) Children raised in poverty need to have positive and reliable role models who can help them develop social-emotional responses that are crucial in helping them develop relationships in a school setting (McKenzie, 2019). These children born in poverty may lack these and therefore, the teachers need to show them that they care about them by building relationships before engaging in learning. Teachers should ensure that the classroom environment is conducive for them by making them feel included and valued. This will help improve their overall mental health (McKenzie, 2019). Students from households affected by poverty come to school with lack of or limited language and literacy skills. These deficiency creates a gap between them and those from wealthy families (Sloan, 2019).

Covid-19 pandemic has greatly impacted the health and economic status of most households, especially households in deep poverty (Cookson, 2020). Deep poverty rates affect the daily lives of families and public policy. Cookson (2020) identifies a gap in addressing the depth of family poverty and provision of subsidized services for these families. These families struggle with needs like food, housing, insecurity, bills, healthcare and access to the internet for students. With covid-19, learning has moved to online and most of the students from households in poverty are unable to access the internet (Cookson, 2020).

Sudden life events is another cause of mental health problems (Elliot, 2016). These are events that put a lot of pressure on someone. An example is a transition or change in one's financial status. Difficult life events impact mental health and opportunities for basic life needs. People with mental health problems are likely to live in neighborhoods that are socio-economically low (Elliot, 2016).

According to Andermann (2016), people living in poverty and are less educated are likely to have more health problems compared to those who are rich and more educated (Andermann, 2016). Some subgroups of the population who are less empowered and with low socioeconomic status are likely to live and work in deplorable environments which expose them to diseases and impact them psychologically, ending up with chronic stress (Andermann, 2016). According to Johnson (2019), "Children living in poverty have higher levels of cortisol and other stress markers that have dangerous effects on emotional intelligence regulation, academics and executive functioning" (p.81).

According to Blackstock (2018), school aged children's mental health care is affected by several barriers. These barriers include the struggle to pay for mental health care services, the stigma associated with mental health, lack of infrastructure, and difficulty in identifying mental health concerns. The barrier which has raised more concern is stigma because it impacts on the preventive measures for mental health care. This impact is largely felt in small neighborhoods with a close knit nature and people know each other and talk about each other. creating awareness of potential mental health care issues is very crucial because this issue requires attention. Parents and school staff need training to recognize that a mental health concern exists. Lack of awareness means that no one will seek help (Blackstock, 2018).

#### **Strategies For Engaging Students Affected By Poverty**

Education plays a big role in eradicating poverty and so, teachers and parents have a role in educating students in poverty. (Johnson, 2019). Johnson (2019) describes education as a vehicle that can be used to bring people out of poverty. Research shows that making education accessible to people living in poverty and building relationships will help them get out of it. Therefore, parents need to be trained first and then take steps in educating their children alongside the teachers. They need to be educated on how to instill the value of education while educating their children. Poverty eradication is a process and so those in poverty need time to accept poverty and learn on how to decrease poverty problems (Johnson, 2019). Educators should practice patience when teaching students living in poverty. There is a need for the educators to understand the students' culture(s) before introducing them to a culture that can transform their mental faculties. The educators should be part of the solution and should lead as the students follow (Johnson, 2019). However, survival is more important than education in families living in poverty. The students living in poverty lack support or a challenge that can help them succeed in school and in life (Johnson, 2019).

Hai (2021) stated that education is a lasting solution to ending the transferral of poverty. One major strategy that educators can use to reduce poverty is using extrinsic drive and turning it into intrinsic drive. This is one way that can motivate students living in poverty to do well in school. Schools should also implement policies according to households because different households have unique needs. It is the educators' responsibility to stimulate and awaken the students' educational potential. The teachers should include good moral qualities in their teaching styles. These qualities can influence students, guide, and nurture them in areas of emotions, behavior, thoughts and scientific knowledge (Hai, 2021).

Blackstock (2018) lists some strategies that can be used to solve mental health problems. These strategies include the use of classroom interventions and parent-training, behavioral intervention and talk therapy, and the teaching self-regulation intervention when addressing the educational and behavioral needs of students.

The government can fight poverty by funding families living in poverty (Sloan, 2019). This is one strategy that will help families that are struggling to provide basic needs to their children. The struggle in families living in poverty causes stress to the whole household making it difficult for students, in these families, to have a positive connection at school (Sloan, 2019). Educators can try to close the gap brought by poverty by ensuring that the school environment is positive and they teach positive social behaviors. The school should be a safe place for these students to feel comfortable. This will help them to succeed academically and build positive relationships. Students succeed in school when they have someone they can trust and they are made to feel worthy and valued (Sloan, 2019). Students living in poverty need help in building strong social behaviors for them to succeed academically. Students need skills to be taught social skills by educators and families. These skills will be helpful to them when they face difficult situations. Educators should model the positive behaviors and teach the students strategies useful in building these skills. Educators need training and professional development opportunities to prepare them on how to best support the students living in poverty. Parents should be involved and supported in helping students build social skills. Children should be taught skills like resilience from an early age to help them be independent as they grow. These skills help them for self-regulation, overcome feelings of anxiety and reduce stress (Sloan, 2019).

Gale (2016) said that poverty can decrease if there is economic growth at national and regional levels. He however points out that this alone cannot solve problems that come with poverty (Gale ,2016). When the economy grows, people are lifted from poverty by getting better job opportunities and pay rise.without education, a household is likely to live in poverty because people who are uneducated or lack better form of education are likely to be unemployed or still remain in poverty even while employed because of minimum pay (Gale, 2016).

Engle and Black (2008) gave ideas that are useful in alleviating poverty issues. They suggest "comprehensive programs that deal with preschool, improved health and nutrition services and parenting education and support" (p.250). Families will benefit from counseling, provision of nutritional supplements and media outreach (Engle & Black, 2008). Olivares-Cuhat

(2011) also highlighted important strategies like differentiated instruction, teaching social and behavioral skills, provision of food and health services, giving an assurance for safety in the classroom and school at large and getting involved in families and community

According to Brown (2017), school is a refuge for students experiencing homelessness. It protects them from the real life encounter with extreme poverty.While implementing the curriculum, educators should also include the socioemotional component (Ernest, 2016). Children from poverty can heal and learn when a school and classroom environment is safe for them therefore, educators should make the learning environment a safe place for children in poverty (Jensen, 2009). Educators need to address the challenges faced by students from poverty before starting the day's tasks. One example of creating a safe learning environment is by receiving the students with a smile and kind welcoming words when they step into the school and classroom (Ernest, 2016). Ernest (2016) suggested strategies that can help in creating a safe environment for learning and improve learning as well: educators should give students a sense of control, teach empathy, listen to the students stories, teach hope, use meaningful touch, and teach expressive writing among other strategies (Ernest, 2016).

Poverty has adverse effects on children if no interventions are put in place (Huston, 2011). There are programs that are offered nationally that offer interventions with positive outcomes. One of these programs is Head Start which targets preschoolers. Children who attend the Head Start program have better language and literacy skills, have fewer behavior issues, positive social behavior, are more independent and have better health by the end of the year (Huston, 2011). The program also offers positive parenting practices whose result is a more stimulating home environment. Huston (2011) however stated that these interventions offered by the Head Start program can not eliminate poverty. While the program cannot eliminate poverty, it can eliminate some of the effects of poverty on children's intellectual, behavioral and health problems. There is still a need for lasting solutions for the causes and problems associated with poverty (Huston, 2011). Justice et al. (2019) also proposed the Head Start program for language development in children. The program gives subsidized support to children in the early childhood program. They also recommend home visit programs which is an intervention that can help children and parents increase response to interactions. The home visits reduce parental distress and improve language development in children. Another intervention is the early childhood intervention model which also helps the children with language growth. This strategy is practiced by caregivers who utilize contingent responding-to respond to a child's conversation instead of changing focus (Justice et al., 2019).

According to Coleman-Jensen et al. (2019), children from poor households, especially those facing food insecurity have a high tendency to be absent from school. School feeding programs were started with an aim of increasing students' enrollment and reducing absenteeism. The provision of these meals is a short term solution that helps students concentrate while in school (Coleman-Jensen et al., 2019). There are agencies that serve underprivileged students by providing meals at school. These agencies include, U. S. Committee for Refugees and Immigrants(USCRI), After School Program, and Food Bank (Caswell, 2018). Berger et al. (2018) discussed the Anti-Poverty Policy which is a proposal for addressing poverty in the United States. This policy has programs funded by the federal government and they include food stamps,medicaid, headstart, legal services, and job corps.

According to Francis et al. (2018), The programs include:

The United States Department of Agriculture operates several food and nutrition assistance programs, such as the Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP); Women, Infants, and Children (WIC); and the Child and Adult Care Food Program to help vulnerable families consume quality foods in appropriate amounts (United States Department of Agriculture, n.d.). The existence of these nutrition programs, however, does not guarantee the eradication of food insecurity among children. Furthermore, the survival and expansion of these programs rely on a healthy budget determined by a politically transient Congress. (p.6)

A child's brain develops during the child's first five years of life (Elliot, 2019). Children who are born in poverty are exposed to hardships (violence, housing instability, discrimination and drug abuse). These hardships affect their parents' ability to nurture them well and provide them with a safe and stable life. Children need protection, they need to grow in a safe, stable and nurturing environment. Social and community networks help parents to be nurturing, responsive and have an attachment with their children. Most parents raising children in poverty may have also been raised in the same conditions so, they could be suffering from trauma and lack the ability to provide a safe environment for the children (Elliot, 2019). Parents can work with social and community networks to get support in raising their children in a safe, stable and nurturing environment (Francis et al., 2018). Depasquale and Gunnar (2020) argued that parents need to be given external help and support to enable them to provide sensitive care to their children. Gale (2016) gave an example on how some parents are getting external help. He talks of the U.S. Agency for International Development which with other agencies give food aid with an aim of improving food security. One way they do this is by giving school lunches that have been seen to boost educational outcomes. Gale (2016) said that poverty leads to malnutrition which has cognitive and physical effects on children (Gale, 2016). They recommend that policy makers come up with programs that can support parents to provide high quality nurturing for their

children. The policy makers should make these programs accessible to families and communities."Parental sensitivity and nurturance are important mechanisms for establishing biological,emotional and social functioning of childhood" (Depasquale & Dunnar, 2020, p.53).

A child's first three years of life need sensitive care because this is the age when attachment and relationships are formed (Depasquale & Dunnar, 2020). A child's development at this stage has lifelong consequences. Good nurturing can prevent the effects of poverty, so the parent-child relationship is crucial in a child's well-being. Good nurturing creates empathy among children and helps the child to have the ability to regulate emotions. Parents who are sensitive while nurturing their children are less likely to have mental health problems. This promotes social competence and high cognitive functioning (Depasquale & Dunnar, 2020).

Promoting literacy and arts can help children living in poverty to improve their literacy skills (Brown, 2017). Children living in poverty face literacy challenges and hence are behind their peers in reading and writing. In addition to education, these children face mental and emotional health issues (Brown, 2017). While literacy skills are important, they are not sufficient on their own in creating a significant impact on poverty reduction. This necessitates that there be training like seminars and workshops for parents living in poverty and emphasis on how to improve their living conditions. Adult education programs can help train parents on how to train their children to be self-sufficient and self-motivated. They also need to prepare them educationally for school and for life in the community. This home preparation helps the students come to school motivated and eager to learn (Brown, 2017).

Poverty schools use a narrow curriculum that has limited opportunities for authentic literacy, bombard students with testing and neglect the arts due to slashed music, theater and/or art programs. Focusing on literacy across content areas and integrating the arts is shown to increase learning engagement, foster connection and collaboration, and improve academic performance among students particularly children living in poverty. It can also promote creating self expression, psychological healing, resiliency, self esteem and social emotional growth. (p.91)

Teachers need to understand that poverty is not just a lack of finances but lack of essential resources (Boatwright & Midcalf, 2019). This understanding can help them plan on how to best serve the students that come from households affected by poverty. Teachers who are equipped with knowledge and skills to teach learners in poverty have a potential of breaking the poverty cycle that has been going on for generations (Boatwright & Midcalf, 2019). Bazemore-Bertland and Hadsfield (2019) discussed the need for teacher training programs to address poverty before teachers start working with students living in poverty, especially those that work in high poverty schools. Many teachers have little understanding of their students living in poverty. There is a popular misconception about poverty, that people who live in poverty are inferior and so, they should be understood first before helping them get out of poverty. Most teachers assume that students living in poverty and their families are unmotivated, have poor work ethics, they do not have value for education and that they are substance abusers. These teachers have established biases, stereotypes or made assumptions before they get to meet the students in the classroom. These assumptions are based on their own experience, what they see and hear about students living in poverty. Media is the main source of influence on how teachers perceive students living in poverty, the media portrays high poverty schools negatively (Bazemore-Bertland & Hadsfield, 2019). Similarly, Hilton and McCleary (2019) said that students from poor households are successful contrary to the stereotype that people living in

poverty need to be saved from poverty. Teachers need to demystify the preconceived ideas about poverty by training new teachers on how to address poverty issues in the classroom (Hilton & McCleary, 2019).

According to Rice (2017), teachers should address poverty issues in their classrooms. This is because poverty can impact children's brain growth and hence their ability to think, their language, socio-emotional competence and physical health. Teachers should show empathy to the students because some of them come to school hungry, dirty, ill, stressed and angry (Rice, 2017). Teachers should strive to create awareness that people who are poor are not so because they are lazy and not interested in education. Teachers should work on their biases too and try to accommodate the students affected by poverty. They should use individualized instruction and hold high expectations for all the students across the board (Rice, 2017). Rice also proposed the participation of learners in poverty simulation-this is a problem solving strategy that helps students mimic real-world scenarios. The only shortcoming of this strategy is that it needs a lot of time in planning. The simulation strategy helps learners to apply learning to real life situations (Rice, 2017).

According to Bernal (2014), childhood is a stage that needs attention because this is a critical time when children need to be safe and have healthy development. Children's needs are unique at this critical period of physical,cognitive,socioemotional and behavioral development. When children lack food and other basic needs, their daily program is altered and the result is a high level of absenteeism. Some of these children have to bear with living hard lives because of responsibilities of adulthood as young as they are and in the process, this interferes with their development (Bernal, 2014).

Elliott (2016) argued that the mental health risks that people living in poverty are exposed to are preventable.Prevention of mental health problems is a strategy that can effectively help reduce poverty. Through his study, he believes that people should be prevented from becoming poor and those who are already in poverty can be helped move out of it. He also says that people who already have mental health problems can be helped recover. A lot of people with mental health problems do not get any treatment (Elliott, 2016). An example on how the prevention strategy can be used is by involving people with experience in mental health problems. This involvement includes peer-support and establishing self-management programs. This will empower people to be in charge of their health care. Evidence based programs can be used to provide social support,make job opportunities and economic resources more accessible to them and provide social and health care (Elliot, 2016).

One strategy offered by Jordan (2013) that can help communities experiencing mental health to recover is taking mental health services to these communities. Trauma and mental health needs to be addressed in the poor communities. This will facilitate brian development in children and help them deal with challenges that come with poverty. Adults will also get help in coping with mental issues like stress and anxiety brought by poverty (Elliott, 2016). Knifton and Inglis (2020) shared similar ideas with Jordan (2013) by offering one solution to poverty-the assessment of poverty to establish its existence and respond by providing care to the people living in poverty. People in poverty should be taught how to manage their finances/debts, healthcare services should be taken to them and be informed on employment opportunities (Knifton & Inglis, 2020). There is need for support on anti-poverty programs that are aimed at changing social attitudes (Caswell, 2018). One such program is service-learning that is beneficial for students because it has benefits that are beyond traditional academic learning. The service

learning courses helped students improve in personal, social, academic, and citizenship outcomes. The students understood social problems better and developed a greater ability to be compassionate (Caswell, 2018).

According to Blair and Raver (2018), children living in poverty need to be cared for and supported. caregivers have a big role to play in children's growth and behavior change,this is mainly by reinforcing positive behavior. Parents and community leaders can educate caregivers on how to give care to infants. Children and parents need to be screened for mental health risks and given services that can help improve their mental health and parenting behavior (Blair & Raver, 2018).

According to Blackstock (2018), some of the barriers that exist between school aged children and mental health care include the cost of services, the stigma associated with mental health, lack of infrastructure, and being unable to identify mental health concerns because of lack of awareness. Mental health concerns can be addressed at school level by teachers, school counselors, and school psychologists. Their role can be working towards increasing the number of mental health resources in schools. Teachers would need professional development opportunities that will train them on mental health concerns (Blackstock, 2018). According to Starr (2020), school psychologists, social workers, and community agencies can work collaboratively to address mental health issues but they are overstretched. Schools with the help of policy makers should invest in expertises. They should invest in having more trained staff and more resources to help address mental health problems. Creating awareness of mental health is another step that can be used by counselors to advocate for their clients when they cannot advocate for themselves because of existing barriers. To extend support to students and families, counseling can be done online to help students access mental health services (Blackstock, 2018).

It is unrealistic to expect schools to work alone in addressing issues that affect the mental well being of students and their families (Elliot, 2018). Schools serve families dealing with domestic violence, addiction and mental illness which is a result of racial, socioeconomic and geographical divides. These are issues that students bring to the classroom and the school is expected to address them. One way of dealing with these issues is creating a collaboration between schools and community partners. Community is a powerful tool that schools can tap into in addressing the mental well-being of students and families (Elliot, 2018). Blackstock (2018) talked of collaboration too. He proposed collaboration among school stakeholders as a tool of preventing and addressing mental health issues. The main goal of the collaboration between teachers, human resource professionals and parents is working on preventive measures and treatment of children who are at risk of mental health problems. School staff should practice compassion so that they can learn the physical, social and emotional challenges that students and their families face. Coordination with community partners is also a good step that can help schools provide mental and behavioral health support (Elliot, 2018). The integration of resilience in school programs is another way of dealing with the mental well-being of students. Schools can use new practices throughout the school day and even in after school programs. Some of the practices include self-care, mindfulness practices, promoting racial equity and social justice within schools. The main focus should be on promoting resilience, socioemotional well-being, and experiential education (Elliot, 2018).

Schools are in a position of promoting children's mental health if they are provided with the essential resources (Starr, 2020). According to Carney et al. (2017), school counselors play an important role in addressing mental health issues affecting students. They have been trained to recognize and respond to students' needs. Mental health needs impact the academic success of students so school counselors should address students' mental and behavioral needs by use of early interventions. Students can have similar behaviors but have different mental health problems (Starr, 2020). According to Denny (2018), one of the strategies that educators can use to address mental health problems in students is School-Based Health Services (SBHS). These services provide comprehensive and appropriate care that is accessible and comes at low-cost. Another strategy that can be used to effectively address these problems is trauma informed care. Educators should be trauma informed and be aware that most students from poor neighborhoods need specialized support. Starr (2020) however noted that not all students from these neighborhoods experience mental illness or trauma so, educators need to be careful in identifying students' needs. They should not make assumptions that every student's outburst in the classroom is an indicator that the student has mental health problems. They should understand individual students' needs and not generalize students' needs based on a few students' behaviors (Starr, 2020).

Educators face a challenge in building relationships with students and families from poor neighborhoods (Starr, 2020). This requires extensive personal outreach through home visits or diagnostic interviews and this involves assessing their mental health needs and learning their stories which is time consuming. It is hard to get enough time to do this because the trained personnel like the school psychologist and social worker are overstretched. In addition to assessing and addressing the students' mental health needs, there is a need for schools to create safe and supportive environments. The environment should not make the students' mental health worse, it should not cause them stress and anguish. The best way to create a conducive environment is by avoiding punitive disciplinary practices like the use of ranking students and practicing healthy norms. The school should have a culture that helps the students see the need for school and look forward to coming to school to learn (Starr, 2020).

According to Moore et al. (2020), school leaders should emphasize on the students' mental health and well-being. Listening to students' stories and working with professionals will help schools address mental health concerns. Schools need to improve and expand mental health resources in school and bring more counselors on board as there is a shortage. The shortage of these professionals has hindered the efforts in addressing mental health issues in schools. The addition of more mental health resources will help reduce suspensions, expulsions, incidents of violence and create a safe and supportive environment (Moore, 2020).

According to Mowat (2020), networks of peer support is one strategy that can be used to help address students' mental well-being in school. Lack of friends can lead to depression. Strong peer networks can help students improve on psychological well being, self esteem, academic achievement, and social adjustment to school. Another strategy is constant communication between school and home, this will foster and nurture supportive relationships across the school and community. It is important to have high degree collaboration between school, community, and all stakeholders. The goal of the collaborative team should focus on working with families by listening to their concerns and utilizing community strengths (Mowat, 2020).

#### **CHAPTER III: DISCUSSION AND SUMMARY**

#### **Summary of Literature Review**

Poverty has been a global concern over a long period of time. Developing countries have the highest levels of poverty compared to developed countries like the U. S. The U. S. census data shows that the number of children experiencing the effects of poverty is higher than the number of adults (Peterson, 2021). Nearly 22% of the children population live in poverty and the highest number of people who are less educated are the poor. The poor may also experience more health problems compared to those that are not poor. Children raised in poverty are likely to face a lot of challenges, some of which have long term effects like altered brain structure. They may also face homelessness at an early age some of the factors that lead to depression, anxiety and suicide (Johnson, 2019).

Poverty may cause developmental delay in children. In addition to developmental delay, poverty may also cause delays in school readiness for preschoolers. Children in poverty may lack positive parental interaction which helps in acquiring basic skills useful for school readiness. This is because most parents are absent from their children because they have to work long hours to meet the families needs (Chaundry & wimer, 2016). In some households, maternal stress, low parent education level and abuse of drugs in pregnancy can affect the children's development placing them behind their peers from middle class families. The children from poor households may lack good nurturing from their parents as the parents could already be depressed. Some of the parents are school drop-outs who started families early and might not see the need to prioritize their children's education when they are struggling to put food on the table (Brown 2016). There are programs that children from low income families can be enrolled in to prepare them for school. These programs include headstart that is offered for preschool children (Huston, 2011).

According to Johnson (2019) and Fancis (2018), most children from poor households live in dangerous communities. The dangers in the communities include but are not limited to: crime activities and pollution which leads to health problems like respiratory issues. Most of the families in poor neighborhoods have limited access to health services and this impacts their overall health and mental well-being. Children from these neighborhoods are also likely to have low education attainment, drop out of school as most of them might not make it to college, and be absent from school most of the days if they have to take care of their younger siblings as their parents work. Some of the strategies that can be used to reduce poverty issues in communities are the use of anti-poverty policies that address the poverty issues, support from the government by allocating funds to provide subsidized services for families, provision of free meals, and making housing affordable for poor households.

According to Lanker and Parolin (2020), school is one of the places where children from poor families can feel safe, loved and cared for. Changing the home environment might not be easy but educators can make school their second home. Some of the children come to school because they know they will get free meals that are offered by the government. An example is the free lunch program that offers meals to students at school. Some households might not afford proper meals for their children on a daily basis because of the high cost of living. Apart from meals, these children may find school a place where they have a sense of belonging as they interact with peers and teachers. Educators have a role to play in ensuring that the school environment is safe for these children and that they feel respected, valued and secure (Mowat,2020). According to Johnson (2019), there is a high likelihood of children from poor households to be bullied by peers from middle in-come households so schools should have policies that discourage bullying. Schools need to have open communication with families and create relationships that are helpful in addressing individual needs of students both at school and home.

According to Carney (2017), students from poor households are more likely to experience stress, depression and some have suicidal thoughts. This is because of the deplorable home conditions and crime activities in most poor neighborhoods. These students may find it hard to regulate their emotions when in school and end up having behavioral issues because of mental illness (Jensen, 2009). Educators and school service providers like the school social worker and psychologist need to understand these students' backgrounds and address mental illness issues at school level by counseling and do referrals to mental health specialists if needed. According to Blackstock(2018), the students' mental well-being is crucial for their brain development and education achievement. Students with mental illness are less likely to interact well with peers, be ready for learning and cope with life situations. However, children from middle income families also experience mental illness like their peers from low income families but those from poor households have high chances of experiencing this. The children from middle income families have more access to mental health services while those from low income families have limited access because of the cost of the services. Most families from poor households also face transportation and food challenges when they have to commute to get the services. Therefore, the government should work with schools to ensure that these services are brought close to them. While these services are already being provided at school level, the professionals are overstretched because of the rate of students that need mental health services and the limited number of service providers (Blackstock, 2018).

## **Limitations of Research**

This study was a review of 67 articles on poverty, its effects on students' mental well being, and strategies for engaging students affected by poverty. Many studies have extensively examined the effect of poverty on overall well being of students but a few have focused on prevention of mental health problems in students. Recent research suggests a gap between the mental health needs of school-aged children and access to mental health care and structural response to poverty. Most of the studies that examined the effects of poverty on the mental well-being of children did not give an accurate measure of poverty in every household impacted by poverty.

This study will add to the body of literature by examining how poverty affects the mental well-being of students and offers strategies that can be used to address poverty and mental health problems in students. This study however did not gather data on the effects of poverty at post secondary level and the preventive measures in addressing poverty and mental health. I limited my research to studies that focused on students' mental well-being.

#### **Implications for Future Research**

I found the research and data to my topic relevant to my teaching career presently and in the future. I have plans to continue looking for data in the next 5-10 years to help in identifying more strategies that can be used to provide sufficient school-based health services for students with mental health problems. Future study will also help in recognizing mental health concerns in students early and focus more on preventive measures for mental health problems rather than waiting for symptoms and effects of mental health in students to be visible and start the process of addressing the problems. I will continue to do research on how the gap between students from low socioeconomic backgrounds and students from high socioeconomic backgrounds can be closed. It will also be useful for future research to examine more on practices that schools can implement schoolwide and in classrooms to address poverty issues and students' mental well-being.

### **Professional Application**

The effects of poverty in children are complex. Poverty can affect students' experiences in school and make learning in the classroom challenging. Educators have a responsibility of ensuring that there is a positive climate in the classroom and addressing students' concerns (Hogkinson, 2017). The main challenge that students living in poverty may face is mental health problems. Educators, in collaboration with families, can focus on prevention and intervention for mental health problems in the early childhood period. However, accessing mental health services remains a big challenge for families and students. There are existing barriers that prevent the access to mental health services. These barriers can be social, psychological and or physical. Educators can play a role in breaking these barriers and connecting students to professionals that offer quality mental health services (Hodgkinson, 2017).

As an educator I strive to make the classroom environment welcoming and safe to my students. A safe environment helps students to relax and open up to learning and interacting with peers. The strategies for engaging students from low income families, highlighted in this paper, can work well in small groups discussion and circle time. This is the time when students can learn social skills that are helpful in self-regulation, build self-esteem, build strong classroom relationships, and motivate students to learn.

#### Conclusion

The process of research, and gathering data on the effects of poverty on students' mental well-being has been worthwhile. This experience helped me understand how poverty affects the mental well-being of students. Poverty is linked to psychological, physiological and emotional problems in children (Jensen, 2009). According to Schaefer (2012), children's brain development can be affected by poverty right from infancy to adulthood. This affects how their brains function and hence impacts on their behaviors and how they control their emotions. Poverty has an effect on school readiness, especially on language development in children (Jakovljevic et al. 2016). Educators can implement programs that promote literacy in preschool to help meet the needs of children from low income families because children from middle income families get early exposure to educational resources (Justice et al. 2019). I gathered valuable strategies that can help me as an educator to address poverty issues in the classroom. The strategies include understanding the students' backgrounds by listening to their stories and creating a safe environment where students feel loved, respected and have a sense of belonging. According to Blackstock (2018), mental illness services should be made accessible to all students. Schools should invest in professionals who can address students' mental health problems by addressing preventive measures and helping those who already have mental health problems.

#### References

Acri, C, M., et al. (2017). The Intersection of Extreme Poverty and Familial Mental Health in the United States, *Social Work in Mental Health*, *15*(6). 677-689.

https://doi.org/10.1080/15332985.2017.1319893

Andermann, A., & Collaboration, C. (2016). Taking action on the social determinants of health

in clinical practice: A framework for health professionals. *Canadian Medical Association Journal (CMAJ), 188*(17-18), E474-E483. doi:10.1503/cmaj.160177

- Bazemore-Bertland, S., and Handsfield, J., L.(2019)Show & Tell Elementary Teacher Candidates' Perceptions of Teaching in High-Poverty Schools, Retrieved from <u>EJ1239634.pdf (ed.gov)</u>
- Berger, L. M., Cancian, M., & Magnuson, K. (2018). Anti-Poverty Policy Innovations: New Proposals for Addressing Poverty in the United States. *RSF: The Russell Sage Foundation Journal of the Social Sciences*, 4(3), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.7758/rsf.2018.4.3.01
- Bernal, J., Frongillo, E. A., Herrera, H. A., & Rivera, J. A. (2014). Food Insecurity in Children but Not in Their Mothers Is Associated with Altered Activities, School Absenteeism, and Stunting. *Journal of Nutrition*, 144(10), 1619–1626. https://doi-org.ezproxy.bethel.edu/10.3945/jn.113.189985

Bernstein, S., et al.(2018) Poverty dynamics, poverty thresholds and mortality: An age-stage Markovian model, Retrieved from

Poverty dynamics, poverty thresholds and mortality: An age-stage Markovian model (plos.org)

Bianchi, D., Cavicchiolo, E., Lucidi, F., Manganelli, S., Girelli, L., Chirico, A., & Alivernini, F.

(2021). School dropout intention and self-esteem in immigrant and native students living in poverty: The protective role of peer acceptance at school. *School Mental Health*, *13*(2), 266-278. Retrieved from
https://ezproxy.bethel.edu/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true
&db=eric&AN=EJ1298601&site=ehost-live&scope=site
http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s12310-021-09410-4

Blackstock, J. S., Chae, K. B., Mauk, G. W., & McDonald, A. (2018). Achieving access to mental health care for school-aged children in rural communities: A literature review. *Rural Educator, 39*(1), 12-25. Retrieved from https://ezproxy.bethel.edu/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true &db=eric&AN=EJ1225166&site=ehost-live&scope=site

Boatwright, P., & Midcalf, L. (2019). The effects of poverty on lifelong learning: Important

lessons for educators. Delta Kappa Gamma Bulletin, 85(3), 52-57. Retrieved from https://ezproxy.bethel.edu/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true &db=aph&AN=136628850&site=ehost-live&scope=site

Brown, R. (2017). Students and Schools in Poverty: Layers of Estrangement: Social-Emotional and Educational Implications of Homelessness on K–12 Students. *National Youth-At-Risk Journal*, 2(6), 81-87.

https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1275739.pdf

Carney, J. V., Kim, H., Hazler, R. J., & Guo, X. (2017). Protective Factors for Mental Health Concerns in Urban Middle School Students: The Moderating Effect of School Connectedness. *Professional School Counseling*, 21(1), 1–9. https://www.jstor.org/stable/90023538

Caswell, T. A. (2018). Psychology of poverty: Attitude change via service-learning. *Journal of Service-Learning in Higher Education, 7*(1), 25-34. Retrieved from https://ezproxy.bethel.edu/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true &db=eric&AN=EJ1186248&site=ehost-live&scope=site

Chaudry, A., and Wimer C. (2016). Poverty is not an indicator: The Relationship Between Income, *Poverty and Child Well-Being*, 16(3). S23-S29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acap.2015.12.010

Cheung, K. C., & Wong, R. K. (2021). Income effects on the intellectual development of

children from low-income families in hong kong: The mediating role of parental investment and parental stress. *Child & Adolescent Social Work Journal, 38*(3), 337-346. doi:10.1007/s10560-020-00681-5, Center of Disease Control (2022). Retrieved from

https://www.cdc.gov/chronicdisease/about/index.htm

Coleman-Jensen, Alisha, Matthew P. Rabbitt, Christian A. Gregory, and Anita Singh. (2019) Household Food Security in the United States in 2018, ERR-270, U.S. Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service. Retrieved from <u>https://www.ers.usda.gov/webdocs/publications/94849/err-270.pdf</u> Cookson, W, P.(2020). A World of Hardship: Deep Poverty and the Struggle for Educational Equity. Retrieved from

<u>A World of Hardship: Deep Poverty and the Struggle for Educational Equity</u> (learningpolicyinstitute.org)

Denny, S., Howie, H., Grant, S., Galbreath, R., Utter, J., Fleming, T., & Clark, T. (2018).
 Characteristics of school-based health services associated with students' mental health.
 *Journal of Health Services Research & Policy*, 23(1), 7–14.
 <a href="https://www.jstor.org/stable/27009757">https://www.jstor.org/stable/27009757</a>

DePasquale, C. E., & Gunnar, M. R. (2020). Parental sensitivity and nurturance. Future of

Children, 30(2), 53-70. Retrieved from

https://ezproxy.bethel.edu/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true &db=eric&AN=EJ1293583&site=ehost-live&scope=site

Ebersöhn, L. (2017). A resilience, health and well-being lens for education and poverty. South

*African Journal of Education, 37*(1) Retrieved from https://ezproxy.bethel.edu/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true &db=eric&AN=EJ1133708&site=ehost-live&scope=site

Ekono, M., Jiang, Y., Smith, S., & National Center for Children, in Poverty. (2016). Young children in deep poverty. fact sheet. *National Center for Children in Poverty*, Retrieved from https://ezproxy.bethel.edu/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true

Elliot, L. (2018). District partners support students' mental health. The Phi Delta Kappan, 99(5),

&db=eric&AN=ED578993&site=ehost-live&scope=site

47-50. http://www.jstor.org/stable/44653401

- Elliott, I. (2016) Poverty and Mental Health: A review to inform the Joseph Rowntree Foundation's Anti-Poverty Strategy. London: *Mental Health Foundation*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.mentalhealth.org.uk/sites/default/files/Poverty%20and%20Mental%20Healt</u> <u>h.pdf</u>
- Engle, P.L. and Black, M.M. (2008), The Effect of Poverty on Child Development and Educational Outcomes. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1136(1), 243-256. https://doi.org/10.1196/annals.1425.023
- Ernest, I. (2016) Teaching Children from Poverty and Trauma. Retrieved from

# ED594465.pdf

- Francis, L., DePriest, K., Wilson, M., & Gross, D. (2018). Child poverty, toxic stress, and social determinants of health: Screening and care coordination. *Online Journal of Issues in Nursing*, 23(3), 2. doi:10.3912/OJIN.Vol23No03Man02
- Gale (2016) The Economic and Human Dimensions of Poverty. Retrieved from Scholarly Articles on Poverty: History & Academic Articles (gale.com)
- Gupta, P., Wit, D., and Mckeown, D. (2007). The impact of poverty on the current and future health status of children. *Pediatrics & Child Health*, 12(8), 667-672. doi: <u>10.109</u> <u>3/pch/12.8.667</u>
  - Hai, Y. (2021). Poverty alleviation by education is a kind of awakening and discovery: In memory of the "poverty alleviation war" of a retired middle school principal in eastern china. *Science Insights Education Frontiers*, 8(2), 1097-1107. Retrieved from

https://ezproxy.bethel.edu/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=tru e&db=eric&AN=EJ1295089&site=ehost-live&scope=site

Hilton, T., J., and McCleary, M.(2019)Preconceived Notions About Poverty Held by Preservice Teachers, 8(2), 95-114. Retrieved from <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1227782.pdf</u>

Hodgkinson, S., Godoy, L., Beers, L. S., & Lewin, A. (2017). Improving Mental Health Access for Low-Income Children and Families in the Primary Care Setting. *Pediatrics*, 139(1), e20151175.

https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2015-1175

- Huston A. C. (2011). Children in poverty: Can public policy alleviate the consequences?. *Family matters (Melbourne, Vic.)*, (87), 13–26. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/22379352/
- Jakovljevic, I., Miller P, A., Fitzgerald, B. (2016). Children's Mental Health: Is Poverty the Diagnosis?. *Medical Journal*, *58*(8), 454-460.

https://bcmj.org/sites/default/files/public/BCMJ\_Vol58\_No8\_Children-mental-health-pov erty%20%28ID%20106172%29.pdf

Janke, A. (2021). The Impact of Generational Poverty of Children's Mental Health and a Pandemics Effects. Retrieved from

Editorial Note for the Journal of Brain Research (omicsonline.org)

- Jensen, E. (2016). *Poor students, rich teaching: Mindsets for change*. Bloomington, IN: Solution Tree Press.
- Jensen, E. (2013). *Engaging students with poverty in mind: Practical strategies for raising achievement*. ASCD.

Jensen, E. (2009). Teaching with poverty in mind: What being poor does to kids' brains and what schools can do about it. AScD.

Johnson, K. (2019). Chronic poverty: The implications of bullying, trauma, and the education of the poverty-stricken population. *European Journal of Educational Sciences*, , 76-101. Retrieved from

https://ezproxy.bethel.edu/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&d b=eric&AN=EJ1236628&site=ehost-live&scope=site

Justice, L. M., Jiang, H., Purtell, K. M., Schmeer, K., Boone, K., Bates, R., & Salsberry, P. J.

(2019). Conditions of Poverty, Parent-Child Interactions, and Toddlers' Early Language Skills in Low-Income Families. *Maternal and child health journal*, *23*(7), 971–978. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10995-018-02726-9

Jordan, R. (2013). Poverty's Toll on Mental Health. Retrieved from https://www.urban.org/urban-wire/povertys-toll-mental-health

 Kniffton, L., and Inglis, G. (2020). Poverty and Mental Health: Policy, *Practice and research Implications*, 44(5), 193-196. doi: <u>10.1192/bjb.2020.78</u>
 <u>S2056469420000789jxx 193..196 (cambridge.org)</u>

Kotera, Y., Green, P., & Sheffield, D. (2021). Mental health of therapeutic students:

Relationships with attitudes, self-criticism, self-compassion, and caregiver identity. *British Journal of Guidance & Counseling, 49*(5), 701-712. Retrieved from https://ezproxy.bethel.edu/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true &db=eric&AN=EJ1308551&site=ehost-live&scope=site http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/03069885.2019.1704683 Lancker, V, W., Parolin Z. (2020). COVID-19, school closures, and child poverty: A Social Crisis in the Making, S2468-2667(20) 30084-0.

https://www.thelancet.com/action/showPdf?pii=S2468-2667%2820%2930084-0

Mayer, Brian. Et.al (2019). Improving Student Learning Outcomes through Community-based Research: The Poverty Workshop, 47(2), 135-147.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0092055X18818251

McCarty, T. (2017). Child Poverty in the United States: A Tale of Devastation and the Promise of Hope. *Sociology Compass, 10*(7). 623-639.

https://doi.org/10.1111/soc4.12386

McKenzie K. (2019). The Effects of Poverty on Academic Achievement. *BU Journal of Graduate Studies in Education, 11*(2). 21-24. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1230212.pdf

Merriam-Webster Dictionary. Retrieved from

https://www.cdc.gov/chronicdisease/about/index.htm

Milner, H. R., Cunningham, H. B., Murray, I. E., & Alvarez, A. (2017). Supporting Students Living Below the Poverty Line. *National Youth-At-Risk Journal*, 2(2). https://doi.org/10.20429/nyarj.2017.020204

Moore, R., Croft, M., Heisdorf, S., & ACT Center for Equity, in Learning. (2020). What do students say about school safety? insights in education and work. ().ACT, Inc.
Retrieved from
https://ezproxy.bethel.edu/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=tru
e&db=eric&AN=ED610237&site=ehost-live&scope=site

Mowat, J. G. (2020). Interrogating the relationship between poverty, attainment and mental

health and wellbeing: The importance of social networks and support -- A scottish case study. *Cambridge Journal of Education, 50*(3), 345-370. Retrieved from https://ezproxy.bethel.edu/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=tru e&db=eric&AN=EJ1257528&site=ehost-live&scope=site http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/0305764X.2019.1702624

Murali, V., and Oyebode, F., (2018) Poverty, Social inequality and Mental Health. *Advancement in Psychiatric Treatment, 10*(3), 216-221.

https://www.cambridge.org/core/services/aop-cambridge-core/content/view/39E6EB94B 44818EDE417F181AC300DA4/S1355514600001322a.pdf/poverty-social-inequality-and -mental-health.pdf

- Nguyen, U., Smith S., and Granja M.(2020). Young Children in Deep Poverty: Racial/Ethnic Disparities and Child Well-Being Compared to Other Income Groups. Retrieved from https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED613030.pdf
- Oaks, Jeannie et al.,(2021)Adequate and Equitable Education in High-Poverty Schools: Barriers and Opportunities in North Carolina. Retrieved from https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED614422.pdf
- Olivarez-Cuhat, G.(2011). Learner Factors in a High-Poverty Urban Middle School, 9(1),1-11 https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ957122.pdf

Peterson G. P., (2021) United States Census Bureau, Current Population Survey. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.pgpf.org/blog/2021/12/poverty-rate-increased-for-the-first-time-in-five-years">https://www.pgpf.org/blog/2021/12/poverty-rate-increased-for-the-first-time-in-five-years</a> Ratcliffe, Caroline E. and McKernan, Signe-Mary, (2012) Child Poverty and its Lasting Consequence. Urban Institute Low-Income Working Families Working. Retrieved from <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2205388">http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2205388</a>

- Raver, C. C., & Blair, C. (2016). Neuroscientific insights: Attention, working memory, and inhibitory control. *Future of Children, 26*(2), 95-118. Retrieved from https://ezproxy.bethel.edu/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true &db=eric&AN=EJ1118545&site=ehost-live&scope=site
- Rice, A., McCall L., and Ogden J (2017). Students and Schools in Poverty The Poverty Simulation: Increasing Teacher Sensitivity for Students Living in Poverty, *National Youth-At-Risk Journal*, 2(8), 107-108.

https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1275397.pdf

Schaefer, A., Mattingly, M., and Johson K., (2016.) Child Poverty Higher and More Persistent on Rural America,

https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED573168.pdf

Scott E. (2021). Stress Management: Effects on Health, Retrieved from

https://www.verywellmind.com/cortisol-and-stress-how-to-stay-healthy-3145080

Shankar-Brown, R. (2017). Layers of estrangement: Social-emotional and educational

implications of homelessness on K-12 students. National Youth-at-Risk Journal, 2(2),

81-91. Retrieved from

https://ezproxy.bethel.edu/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true &db=eric&AN=EJ1275739&site=ehost-live&scope=site

Shields, C. M. (2014). The War on Poverty Must Be Won: Transformative Leaders Can Make a

Difference. International Journal of Educational Leadership and Management, 2(2), 124-146.

## http://dx.doi.org/10.447/ijelm.2014.14

Simon K. (2018). Addressing Poverty and Mental Illness, *Psychiatric Times*, *35*(6). Retrieved from

https://www.psychiatrictimes.com/view/addressing-poverty-and-mental-illness

Sloan, T.(2019). Supporting Students Living in Poverty, *BU Journal of Graduate Studies in Education*, *11*(1), 51-54.

https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1230335.pdf

Smith-Carrier et al.,(2019). Living with poverty: A simulation, 10(5),642-653 <u>https://journals-sagepub-com.ezproxy.bethel.edu/doi/pdf/10.1177/1468017318766429</u>

- Starr, J. P. (2020). Meeting students' mental health needs: No shortcuts. *The Phi Delta Kappan*, *101*(5), 60–61. https://www.jstor.org/stable/26898132
- Taylor K. (2017). Poverty Long-Lasting Effects on students' Education and Success. Retrieved from

https://www.insightintodiversity.com/povertys-long-lasting-effects-on-students-education -and-success/

Thacker-King, J. (2019). Poverty and learning: The effects of poverty in the classroom. *Journal* of the American Academy of Special Education Professionals, ,152-157. Retrieved from https://ezproxy.bethel.edu/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true b=eric&AN=EJ1254298&site=ehost-live&scope=site

- Yoshikawa, H., Aber, J., Beardslee, W. (2012). The Effects of Poverty on the Mental, Emotional, and Behavioral Health of Children and Youth Implications for Prevention. *American Psychologist*, 67(4), 272-84. DOI:<u>10.1037/a0028015</u> PubMed
- Zhang, L., & Han, W. (2021). Childhood deprivation experience, family pathways, and socioemotional functioning. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 35(2), 213-224. doi:10.1037/fam0000811